

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 889 / APRIL 2008

CREDIT AND THE NATURAL RATE OF INTEREST

by Fiorella De Fiore and Oreste Tristani











In 2008 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €10 banknote.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1120163.

WORKING PAPER SERIES

CREDIT AND THE NATURAL RATE

NO 889 / APRIL 2008

OF INTEREST¹

by Fiorella De Fiore²

and Oreste Tristani²



1 The views expressed here are personal and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank or the Eurosystem. We wish to thank Liam Graham and Philippe Weil for useful comments, as well as seminar participants at the ECB, the Bank of Portugal, the EEA meeting (2007), the SCE meetings (2007), and the Bank of Finland/CEPR Conference on "Credit and the Macroeconomy". We are particularly grateful to Michael Woodford for extensive comments and discussions.

2 Both authors: Directorate General Research, European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: fiorella.de_fiore@ecb.europa.eu and oreste.tristani@ecb.europa.eu

© European Central Bank, 2008

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Website http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb. europa.eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/ index.en.html

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract			4
Non-technical abstract			5
1	Introduction		8
2	The model		П
	2.1	Households	12
	2.2	The production sector	14
	2.3	The investment sector	15
	2.4	A Wicksellian monetary policy regime	19
	2.5	Fiscal policy	19
	2.6	Market clearing	19
	2.7	Equilibrium	20
3	The natural rate of interest		20
	3.1	A modified definition of natural rate	22
	3.2	Price stability under a	
		Wicksellian monetary policy regime	23
4	Numerical analysis		25
	4.1	Price stability and natural rate dynamics	26
	4.2	Money remuneration	27
	4.3	Nominal debt contracts and the	
		real effects of monetary policy	28
5	Robustness		29
6	Conclusions		32
Appendix			33
References			38
Figures			40
European Central Bank Working Paper Series			46

Abstract

We analyze the properties of the natural rate of interest in an economy where nominal debt contracts generate a spread between loan rates and the policy interest rate. In our model, monetary policy has real effects in the flexible-price equilibrium, because it affects the credit spread. Relying on a definition suitable for this environment, we demonstrate that: (i) the natural rate is independent of monetary policy and (ii) it delivers price stability, if used as the intercept of a monetary policy rule. The second result holds exactly if real balances are remunerated at a constant spread below policy interest rates, approximately otherwise. We also highlight, however, that the natural rate is not robust to model uncertainty. The natural rate reacts differently to aggregate shocks – not only quantitatively but also qualitatively – depending on the underlying model assumptions (e.g. whether or not financial markets are frictionless).

Keywords: Monetary policy; natural rate of interest; credit frictions.

JEL Classification: E40, E50, G10.

Non-technical abstract

In the benchmark new-Keynesian model, Woodford (2003) defines the natural rate of interest as the equilibrium real rate of return when prices are fully flexible, and shows that it acts as a summary indicator of inflationary pressures. In that environment, price stability can be achieved at all times by a central bank committed to a Taylor-type rule - which we label natural rate rule - where the policy instrument reacts one-to-one to movements in the natural rate of interest.

Because of the overriding emphasis placed on price stability by most central banks, natural rate rules provide an interesting benchmark for policy analysis. However, their ability to achieve price stability is established in the context of models with frictionless financial markets. Yet, the notion of natural rate initially proposed by Wicksell (1936) is more general and recognizes the fact that different interest rates contribute to determine aggregate demand. Loan rates play an important role in this respect, especially in countries where bank credit is the predominant source of financing for firms. How should one think about the natural rate of interest in an economy where many interest rates affect aggregate demand? Does the natural rate of interest continue to be a useful indicator of inflationary pressure?

In this paper, we answer these questions in a model where the interest rate on short-term bank loans to firms differs from the policy interest rate. Some firms need to borrow funds in order to finance their production, but are subject to idiosyncratic productivity shocks, whose realization can only be observed by lenders after exerting a costly monitoring activity. The interest rate on the resulting optimal credit contract incorporates an external finance premium, as in the standard costly state verification setup. However, in order to capture the nominal nature of bank deposits and loans, we depart from the standard setup and assume that credit is denominated in nominal (rather than real) terms. An implication is that in our model monetary policy exerts real effects by changing the spread between the loan rate and the policy rate, as well as through other more standard channels. An increase in the credit spread leads to higher bankruptcy rates, i.e. a larger waste of real resources for the economy. Apart from asymmetric information and nominal debt contracts, our model is characterised by relatively standard features, such as nominal rigidities in the form of Calvo contracts, and transaction frictions arising because real money balances yield liquidity services. In the benchmark new-Keynesian model, which abstracts from transactions costs and financial frictions, the real interest rate which would prevail under flexible prices can be shown to be a function of the exogenous stochastic processes hitting the economy and - if the model includes capital accumulation - of the current level of the capital stock. Monetary policy exerts no direct influence on the natural rate. In our model, instead, the dichotomy between the real interest rate under flexible prices and monetary policy is lost. The nominal interest rate affects the real side of the economy both through the terms of the financial contract and through changes in the opportunity cost of real balances. This lack of dicothomy implies that the equilibrium real rate of interest under flexible prices can only be computed after specifying the policy rule adopted by the monetary authorities - an undesirable property for a policy indicator. We therefore adopt a different notion of natural equilibrium, which is based on two additional assumptions beyond that of flexible prices: i) debt is denominated in real terms; ii) the central bank is able to maintain the opportunity cost of money constant over time by remunerating money holdings.

Our analysis leads to two main results. First, the natural rate of interest based on the notion of natural equilibrium described above, retains its desirable properties also in the presence of credit frictions and nominal debt. If used in a natural rate rule, it continues to ensure that price stability is maintained at all times, provided that real balances are remunerated at a constant spread below the nominal interest rate. If this spread is not constant over time, the natural rate rule cannot ensure exact price stability, because of the presence of transactions frictions. Nevertheless, in a numerical calibration of the model we show that deviations from price stability are very small. These findings suggest that the natural rate of interest is a useful policy indicator also in models with credit frictions and nominal debt.

Our second main result, however, is that the natural rate is model dependent. Our impulse responses show that the natural rate reacts differently to aggregate shocks – not only quantitatively but also qualitatively – depending on the underlying model assuptions (e.g. whether or not financial markets are frictionless). This hinders its role in the conduct of monetary policy for a central bank that is uncertain about the true model of the economy. The reason behind this result lies in the different transmission of shocks in the model with and without credit frictions. In the model with credit frictions, the dynamic behavior of firms' net worth following a positive technology shock is initially constrained by the fact that entrepreneurial capital is fixed. The increased demand for capital, however, leads to an increase in the price of capital and in the return on internal funds, and thus, over time, to an increase in entrepreneurial capital and net worth. To reap the benefits of the higher return on internal funds and invest more, entrepreneurs reduce their consumption sharply initially to slowly increase it thereafter. The corresponding share of output is partly consumed by households, whose consumption increases much more, on impact, than in the case without credit frictions. As a result, household consumption is expected to fall from the peak of the impact response, generating a reduction of the natural rate of interest. In the case without credit frictions, instead, expected consumption growth is positive but decreasing over time, leading to an increase in the natural rate of interest. There is a certain rate of interest on loans which is neutral in respect to commodity prices, and tends neither to raise nor to lower them. (Wicksell, 1936, p. 102)

1 Introduction

The notion of natural rate of interest initially proposed by Wicksell (1936) has recently attracted renewed attention. In the context of the benchmark new-Keynesian model, Woodford (2003) defines the natural rate of interest as the equilibrium real rate of return when prices are fully flexible (op.cit. p.248), and shows that it acts as a summary indicator of inflationary pressures in the economy. Price stability can be achieved at all times by a central bank committed to a Taylor-type rule – which we label natural rate rule – where the policy instrument reacts one-to-one to movements in the natural rate of interest.

Because of the overriding emphasis placed on price stability by most central banks, natural rate rules provide an interesting benchmark for policy analysis. However, their ability to achieve price stability is established in the context of models with frictionless financial markets. Yet, the notion of natural rate initially proposed by Wicksell is more general and recognizes the fact that different interest rates contribute to determine aggregate demand. Loan rates play an important role in this respect, especially in countries where bank credit is the predominant source of financing for firms. How should one think about the natural rate of interest in an economy where many interest rates affect aggregate demand? Does the natural rate of interest continue to be a useful indicator of inflationary pressure?

In this paper, we address these questions in a model where the interest rate on shortterm bank loans to firms is different from the policy interest rate. Some firms need to borrow funds in order to finance their production, but are subject to idiosyncratic productivity shocks, whose realization can only be observed by lenders after exerting a costly monitoring activity. The interest rate on the resulting optimal credit contract incorporates an external finance premium, as in the costly state verification setup of Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997, 1998) or Bernanke, Gertler and Gilchrist (1999). However, in order to capture the nominal nature of bank deposits and loans, we depart from these models and assume that credit is denominated in nominal (rather than real) terms. An implication is that in our model monetary policy exerts real effects by changing the cost of external finance and the credit spread (as well as through other more standard channels). An increase in the credit spread leads to higher bankruptcy rates, i.e. a larger waste of real resources for the economy.

Apart from asymmetric information and nominal debt contracts, our model is characterised by relatively standard features, whose implications for the natural rate have already been studied by Woodford (2003). More specifically, we allow for nominal rigidities, in the form of Calvo contracts, and transaction frictions, which arise because real money balances yield liquidity services according to the timing convention adopted by Lucas and Stokey (1987).

Our analysis leads to two main results. First, the natural rate of interest, whose definition needs to be tailored to our model environment, retains its desirable properties also in the presence of credit frictions and nominal debt. If used in a natural rate rule, it continues to ensure that price stability is maintained at all times, provided that real balances are remunerated at a constant spread below the nominal interest rate. If this spread is not constant over time, the natural rate rule cannot ensure exact price stability, because of the presence of transactions frictions. Nevertheless, in a numerical calibration of the model we show that deviations from price stability are very small. This set of results suggests that the natural rate of interest is a useful policy indicator also in models with credit frictions and nominal debt.

Our second main result, however, is that the natural rate is model dependent. Our impulse responses show that the natural rate reacts differently to aggregate shocks – not only quantitatively but also qualitatively – depending on the underlying model assuptions (e.g. whether or not financial markets are frictionless). This hinders its role in the conduct of monetary policy for a central bank that is uncertain about the true model of the economy.

Our paper relates to a recent literature that stresses the role of financial market frictions in explaining business cycle volatility. Christiano et al. (2006) and Quejo (2004) estimate DSGE models of the US and the euro area with different sources of frictions and conclude that financial market imperfections are relevant for both areas. Other contributions have estimated models with financial market frictions and confirmed their relevance, particularly in the form of information asymmetries (see e.g. Levin et al. (2004)).

The paper is also related to the evidence on the so-called cost channel, i.e. the fact that firms' marginal costs depend on the nominal interest rate (see e.g. Barth and Ramey (2001)). The implications of the cost channel for optimal monetary policy have been analyzed by Ravenna and Walsh (2006), while Christiano, Eichenbaum and Evans (2005) incorporate the cost channel in a macro model estimated on aggregate US data. In those models, however, there are no agency costs and firms do not pay a premium over the policy rate when borrowing funds. Because of the presence of nominal debt contracts for firms in the investment sector, our model nests the real credit frictions set-up of Carlstrom and Fuerst (2001) or Bernanke, Gertler and Gilchrist (1999) and the cost channel effects emphasized by Ravenna and Walsh (2006) and Christiano, Eichenbaum and Evans (2005) in the transmission of monetary policy.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we outline the model and present the conditions characterizing the equilibrium. In section 3, we define the natural rate starting from the observation that the traditional definition, derived in the flexible price equilibrium of the model, is not useful in our economy. The reason is that it is not independent of monetary policy and would therefore change endogenously if the central bank tried to use it as the intercept of a natural rate rule. We propose an alternative definition, which is independent of monetary policy, and derive the conditions under which it delivers price stability, if used as the intercept of a Taylor rule. In section 4, we present a numerical analysis. In section 4.1, we illustrate the analytical results derived in section 3, namely that an interest rate rule that uses our notion of natural rate as intercept is able to completely stabilize inflation. We also discuss the sensitivity of the natural rate to the underlying model assumptions by comparing the impulse response following a technology shock in our benchmark model and in a model with frictionless financial markets. In section 4.2, we show how the performance of a natural rate rule differs in the case when the spread between the own return on money and the nominal interest rate is constant and when it changes over time. In section 4.3, we analyse the real effects of monetary policy generated by the mere presence of credit frictions and nominal debt contracts, and abstracting from both nominal rigidities and transactions frictions. In section 5, we carry out a robustness analysis. We argue that the approach to modelling financial frictions posposed in the literature and adopted in this paper has two main shortcomings. First, it cannot replicate the countercyclical behaviour of the default rate and of the premium on external finance observed in the data. Second, the assumption of risk neutrality of the entrepreneurs, which is needed to ensure optimality of the financial contract, implies that they have an infinite elasticity of intertemporal substitution of consumption. In a more realistic version of the model, in which entrepreneurs are risk neutral but have finite elasticity of substitution (equal to that of households), our two main results remain valid. Moreover, the difference in the behaviour of the natural rate in the frictionless model and in the model with financial frictions is more protracted over time. In section 5, we provide some concluding remarks.

2 The model

The economy is inhabited by an infinitely-lived representative household, a continuum of infinitely-lived entrepreneurs, a zero-profit financial intermediary, a monetary authority and a fiscal authority.

The household owns a continuum of monopolistically competitive firms producing differentiated intermediate goods. Entrepreneurs manage firms in a competitive investment sector, which produces capital goods. The financial intermediary collects deposits from the household and lends to the entrepreneurs.

Households are risk-averse and have preferences defined over a final consumption good and leisure. At the beginning of the period, they decide how to split their wealth into the available nominal assets. They also decide how much to consume and to invest, but they do not have access to a technology to produce capital goods. Hence, they purchase capital from firms endowed with such technology, which operate in the investment sector. Entrepreneurs also make consumption and investment decisions, but are risk-neutral.

The production sector is composed of a representative firm that produces the final consumption good by aggregating the continuum of intermediate goods. Because of product differentiation, intermediate goods firms have market power and are therefore price makers. In their price-setting activity, however, they are not free to change their price at will, because prices are subject to Calvo contracts.

The investment sector is made of a continuum of competitive firms endowed with a technology, subject to idiosyncratic shocks, which transforms final consumption goods into capital goods. The internal funds of the firms are not sufficient to finance the desired amount of investment, so entrepreneurs need to raise external finance. Lending occurs through the financial intermediary, which is able to diversify the idiosyncratic risk by providing funds to all firms. The loan takes the form of risky debt, which is the optimal contractual arrangement between lenders and borrowers in the presence of asymmetric information and costly state verification. After lending has occurred, the idiosyncratic shock is realized and the firm decides whether or not to repay the debt. In case of bankruptcy, the firm is monitored by the bank and it looses its entire capital output. Firms that have not defaulted sell the newly produced capital to households and rent their own capital stock to intermediate goods firms.

2.1 Households

At the beginning of period t, the financial market opens. First, the interest on nominal financial assets acquired at time t-1 is paid. The households, holding an amount W_t of nominal wealth, choose to allocate it among existing nominal assets, namely money M_t , a portfolio of nominal state-contingent bonds A_{t+1} each paying a unit of currency in a particular state in period t+1, and one-period deposits denominated in units of currency D_t .

As in Woodford (2003), we enable the government to remunerate end-of-period private holdings of money at the rate i_t^m . We also assume that the government can provide households with a subsidy that compensates for the effect of expected inflation on their wealth. Under such subsidy, households that decide to deposit an amount D_t of currency at the financial intermediaries receive back $\Omega_t (1 + i_t^d) D_t$ at the end of the period, where i_t^d is the net interest rate paid by the financial intermediary on deposits and $\Omega_t - 1$ is the subsidy paid by the government for each unit of currency returned to households by the financial intermediary.¹ The reason why a non-zero interest rate is required on intra-period deposits is that, at the end of the period, currency cannot be spent to finance purchases and the financial market is closed. Households are therefore forced to keep the redeemed deposit as cash until the financial market reopens in the following period. From a portfolio-choice viewpoint, deposits would be strictly dominated by the 1-period state-contingent bonds, if they did not yield an interest rate.

In the second part of the period, the goods market opens. Households' money balances are increased by the nominal amount of their revenues and decreased by the value of their expenses. Taxes are also paid or transfers received. The amount of nominal balances brought into period t + 1 is equal to

$$M_t + P_t \left(w_t h_t + \rho_t k_{h,t} \right) - P_t \left(I_{h,t} + c_t \right) + Z_t - T_t, \tag{1}$$

where c_t is the amount of final consumption good purchased, P_t is its price, h_t is hours worked, $k_{h,t}$ is the capital stock held by the household, w_t is the real wage, ρ_t is the return on capital,

¹As we will discuss in section 3.1, we do not need, nor argue that such a subsidy is realistic. Nor our results on the stabilization properties of a Wicksellian monetary policy rely on the existence of such subsidy. We use it as a conceptual device to provide an appropriate definition of the natural rate of interest.

 Z_t are nominal profits transferred from intermediate goods producers to households, $I_{h,t}$ is the amount of consumption good purchased by the household for investment purposes, and T_t are lump-sum nominal taxes collected by the government.

New capital can be purchased from firms in the investment sector at the end of the period, in exchange of consumption goods. The accumulation of households' capital follows the law of motion

$$I_{h,t} = q_t \left[k_{h,t+1} - (1 - \delta) \, k_{h,t} \right],$$

where q_t is the price of capital in units of the consumption good.

The household's problem is to maximize preferences, defined as

$$E_o\left\{\sum_{0}^{\infty}\beta^t \left[u\left(c_t, m_t; \xi_t\right) - v\left(h_t; \psi_t\right)\right]\right\},\tag{2}$$

subject to the budget constraints

$$M_t + D_t + E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} A_{t+1} \right] \le W_t, \tag{3}$$

for all $t \ge 0$, where

$$W_{t+1} = A_{t+1} + \Omega_t \left(1 + i_t^d \right) D_t + (1 + i_t^m) \left[M_t + P_t \left(\rho_t k_{h,t} + w_t h_t \right) + Z_t - T_t - P_t \left(I_{h,t} + c_t \right) \right].$$
(4)

Here $u_c > 0$, $u_m \ge 0$, $u_{cc} < 0$, $u_{mm} < 0$, $v_h > 0$, $v_{hh} > 0$, $m_t \equiv M_t/P_t$ denotes real balances, ξ_t is a preference shock, and ψ_t is a labor supply shock.

The absence of arbitrage opportunities requires the existence of a discount factor $Q_{t,t+1}$ such that the price of any portfolio of financial assets with random value A_{t+1} in the following period is given by $E_t [Q_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}]$. The riskless nominal interest rate corresponds to the solution of the equation

$$\frac{1}{1+i_t} = E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} \right].$$
(5)

Define $\pi_t \equiv \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}}$ and $\Delta_{m,t} \equiv \frac{i_t - i_t^m}{1 + i_t}$. Optimality requires that, at each t, (5) is satisfied, either $D_t = 0$ or

$$1 + i_t^d = \frac{1 + i_t}{\Omega_t},\tag{6}$$

and the following equations hold

$$\frac{v_h(h_t;\psi_t)}{u_c(c_t,m_t;\xi_t)} = w_t \tag{7}$$

$$(1+i_t)^{-1} = \beta E_t \left\{ \frac{u_c \left(c_{t+1}, m_{t+1}; \xi_{t+1} \right) + u_m \left(c_{t+1}, m_{t+1}; \xi_{t+1} \right)}{u_c \left(c_t, m_t; \xi_t \right) + u_m \left(c_t, m_t; \xi_t \right)} \frac{1}{\pi_{t+1}} \right\}$$
(8)

$$\frac{u_m\left(c_t, m_t; \xi_t\right)}{u_n\left(c_t, m_t; \xi_t\right)} = \frac{\Delta_{m,t}}{1 - \Delta_{m,t}} \tag{9}$$

$$u_{c}(c_{t}, m_{t}; \xi_{t}) q_{t} = \beta E_{t} \left\{ u_{c}(c_{t+1}, m_{t+1}; \xi_{t+1}) \left[q_{t+1}(1-\delta) + \rho_{t+1} \right] \right\}.$$
 (10)

Notice that condition (9) can be written as $m_t = L(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t)$. We can then define the following functions

$$U_c(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t) \equiv u_c(c_t, L(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t); \xi_t)$$
(11)

$$U_m(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t) \equiv u_m(c_t, L(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t); \xi_t).$$
(12)

2.2 The production sector

Final consumption goods are produced by a representative, competitive firm using a Dixit-Stiglitz aggregator of differentiated intermediate goods

$$y_t = \left[\int_0^1 y_t \left(j \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}} dj \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1}}, \tag{13}$$

where $y_t(j)$ denotes the quantity of the differentiated good j. Profit maximization of firms producing final goods requires that

$$y_t(j) = \left(\frac{P_t(j)}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} y_t, \tag{14}$$

where $P_t(j)$ is the price of good j. Using condition (14), we can obtain an expression for the consumer price index, $P_t = \left[\int_0^1 P_t(j)^{1-\varepsilon} dj\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$.

Each differentiated intermediate good j is produced by monopolistic competitive firms using the technology

$$y_t(j) = A_t l_t(j)^{\alpha} k_t(j)^{1-\alpha},$$
(15)

where $l_t(j)$ and $k_t(j)$ denote the amount of labor and capital rented on the market by firm j, while A_t is an aggregate exogenous productivity shock.

Because of product differentiation, each intermediate good firm has some market power. Profits are distributed to the households, who are the owners of the firms. We assume that each retailer can change its price with probability $1 - \theta$, following Calvo (1983). Let P_t^* denote the price for good j set by a firm that can change the price at time t, and $y_t^*(j)$ the demand faced given this price. Then each intermediate good firm chooses its price to maximize expected discounted profits, given by

$$E_{t}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\theta^{k}\overline{Q}_{t,t+k}\left[P_{t}^{*}y_{t+k}\left(j\right)-P_{t+k}\overline{\chi}_{t+k}\left(j\right)\right],$$

where $\overline{Q}_{t,t+k} = \beta \frac{U_c(c_{t+k},\Delta_{m,t+1};\xi_{t+k})}{U_c(c_t,\Delta_{m,t};\xi_t)} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}}$ and $\overline{\chi}_{t+k}(j)$ denote total real costs of production. It follows that $\overline{\chi}_t(j)$ is given by

$$\overline{\chi}_{t}\left(j\right) = \min_{k\left(j\right), l\left(j\right)} \left[w_{t}l_{t}\left(j\right) + \rho_{t}k_{t}\left(j\right)\right]$$

subject to (15). Denote χ_t as the Lagrange multiplier associated to constraint (15), or the real cost of producing one unit of output. The latter cost is not firm-specific, as all firms face the same real wage and price of capital. Optimality implies that

$$w_t = \chi_t \alpha \frac{y_t(j)}{l_t(j)}$$

$$\rho_t = \chi_t (1 - \alpha) \frac{y_t(j)}{k_t(j)}.$$

The first-order conditions of the firm's profit maximization problem imply that

$$\frac{P_t^*}{P_t} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \frac{E_t \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k \overline{Q}_{t,t+k} \frac{P_t^{-\varepsilon}}{P_{t+k}^{-\varepsilon}} \chi_{t+k} y_{t+k} \right\}}{E_t \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k \overline{Q}_{t,t+k} \frac{P_t^{1-\varepsilon}}{P_{t+k}^{1-\varepsilon}} y_{t+k} \right\}}.$$

Now define

$$\Theta_{1,t} \equiv E_t \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k \overline{Q}_{t,t+k} \frac{P_t^{-\varepsilon}}{P_{t+k}^{-\varepsilon}} \chi_{t+k} y_{t+k} \right\},$$

$$\Theta_{2,t} \equiv E_t \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k \overline{Q}_{t,t+k} \frac{P_t^{1-\varepsilon}}{P_{t+k}^{1-\varepsilon}} y_{t+k} \right\}.$$

Using the expression for the aggregate price index, $P_t = \left[\theta P_{t-1}^{1-\varepsilon} + (1-\theta) \left(P_t^*\right)^{1-\varepsilon}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$, and substituting out $\frac{P_t^*}{P_t}$, we obtain the following conditions

$$1 = \theta \pi_t^{\varepsilon - 1} + (1 - \theta) \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \frac{\Theta_{1,t}}{\Theta_{2,t}} \right)^{1 - \varepsilon}$$
(16)

$$\Theta_{1,t} = \chi_t y_t + \theta E_t \left[\overline{Q}_{t,t+1} \pi_{t+1}^{\varepsilon} \Theta_{1,t+1} \right]$$
(17)

$$\Theta_{2,t} = y_t + \theta E_t \left[\overline{Q}_{t,t+1} \pi_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1} \Theta_{2,t+1} \right].$$
(18)

2.3 The investment sector

The investment sector and the process of financial intermediation are modelled along the line of Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997), the main difference being the nominal denomination of debt. This difference has two implications. The first is that expected inflation will have an impact on the terms of the contract. The second implication is that that the cost of bank loans will include a premium over the nominal interest rate paid on households' deposits. In contrast, intra-period real deposits are not remunerated in the economy studied by Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997).

The investment sector is composed of an infinite number of competitive firms, each endowed with a stochastic technology that transforms I units of the final consumption good into ωI units of capital. The random variable ω is i.i.d. across time and across entrepreneurs, with distribution Φ , density ϕ and mean unity. The shock ω is private information, but its realization can be observed by the financial intermediary at the cost of μI units of capital.

The amount of internal funds available to firm i is given by its net worth,

$$n_{i,t} = [q_t (1 - \delta) + \rho_t] z_{i,t}, \tag{19}$$

where $z_{i,t}$ is the stock of capital owned by firm *i* at the beginning of period *t*. The firm's net worth (i.e. the value of the accumulated capital stock plus the return from renting the capital stock to intermediate goods firms) is not sufficient to produce the desired amount of investment goods. Hence, the firm needs to raise external finance. However, households are not willing to lend directly to a firm which could default in the face of an idiosyncratic productivity shock. Lending occurs through the financial intermediary, which is able to ensure a safe return by providing funds to the continuum of firms facing idiosyncratic shocks.

2.3.1 The financial contract

Loans are stipulated in units of currency after all aggregate shocks have occurred, and repaid at the end of the same period. The amount of funds lent to firm i is $P_t (I_{i,t} - n_{i,t})$. The capital output is then sold directly to households at the price P_tq_t and used to repay the agreed upon amount (unless default occurs). Define

$$f(\overline{\omega}) \equiv \int_{\overline{\omega}}^{\infty} \omega \Phi(d\omega) - \overline{\omega} \left[1 - \Phi(\overline{\omega})\right]$$
(20)

$$g(\overline{\omega}) \equiv \int_{0}^{\overline{\omega}} \omega \Phi(d\omega) - \mu \Phi(\overline{\omega}) + \overline{\omega} \left[1 - \Phi(\overline{\omega})\right]$$
(21)

as the fraction of the expected net capital output accruing respectively to an entrepreneur and to a lender, after stipulating a contract that sets the fixed repayment at $P_t q_t \overline{\omega}_{it} I_{i,t}$ units of currency. In case of default, a constant fraction μ of the production input is destroyed in monitoring. At the individual firm level, total output is split between the entrepreneur, the



lender, and monitoring costs,

$$f(\overline{\omega}) + g(\overline{\omega}) = 1 - \mu \Phi(\overline{\omega}).$$

Hence, on average, $\mu\Phi(\overline{\omega})$ of the produced capital is lost in monitoring.

Since the contract is intra-period, we can drop the price level from the formulation of the problem. The optimal contract is the pair $(I_{i,t}, \overline{\omega}_{i,t})$ that solves the following CSV problem:

$$\max q_t f(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) I_{i,t}$$

subject to

$$q_t g(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) I_{i,t} \geq \frac{(1+i_t)}{\Omega_t} \left(I_{i,t} - n_{i,t} \right)$$
(22)

$$f(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) + g(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) + \mu \Phi(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) \leq 1$$
(23)

$$q_t f(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) I_{i,t} \geq n_{i,t}, \ n_{i,t} \geq 0.$$
(24)

The optimal contract maximizes the entrepreneur's expected return subject to the financial intermediary's expected return exceeding the repayment requested by the household, (22), the feasibility condition, (23), and the entrepreneur being willing to sign the contract, (24). Notice that the intermediary needs to pay back to the household a gross return equal to the safe interest on deposits, $1 + i_t^d$. From condition (6), it follows that the financial intermediary's expected return on each unit of loans cannot be lower than $\frac{(1+i_t)}{\Omega_t}$.

The informational structure corresponds to a standard costly state verification (CSV) problem (see e.g. Gale and Hellwig (1985)). The first-order conditions of the problem are

$$q_t = \frac{(1+i_t) / \Omega_t}{1 - \mu \Phi\left(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}\right) + \frac{\mu \overline{\omega}_{i,t} f(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}) \phi(\overline{\omega}_{i,t})}{f'(\overline{\omega}_{i,t})}},$$
(25)

$$I_{i,t} = \left\{ \frac{\left(1+i_t\right)/\Omega_t}{\left(1+i_t\right)/\Omega_t - q_t g\left(\overline{\omega}_{i,t}\right)} \right\} n_{i,t}.$$
(26)

Notice from equation (25) that the terms of the contract depend on the state of the economy only through the price of capital q_t and the return $(1 + i_t)/\Omega_t$. Hence, they are the same for all firms, i.e. $\overline{\omega}_{i,t} = \overline{\omega}_t$, for all *i*. From equation (26), it is clear that the contract only differs among firms because of their initial wealth. The larger is $n_{i,t}$, the larger is the investment $I_{i,t}$ that can be financed. Condition (25) can thus be rewritten as

$$q_t = \frac{(1+i_t)/\Omega_t}{1-\mu\Phi\left(\overline{\omega}_t\right) + \frac{\mu\overline{\omega}_t f(\overline{\omega}_t)\phi(\overline{\omega}_t)}{f'(\overline{\omega}_t)}}.$$
(27)

The net nominal interest rate implicit in the contract with firm $i, i_{i,t}^l$, is given by

$$1 + i_{i,t}^{l} = \frac{q_t \overline{\omega}_t I_{i,t}}{I_{i,t} - n_{i,t}}.$$
 (28)

Given linearity in net worth, firm-specific variables can be easily aggregated. Equation (26) leads to the aggregate condition

$$I_t = \left\{ \frac{\left(1+i_t\right)/\Omega_t}{\left(1+i_t\right)/\Omega_t - q_t g\left(\overline{\omega}_t\right)} \right\} n_t.$$
⁽²⁹⁾

It is clear from equation (27) that, ceteris paribus, an increase in the nominal interest rate tends to push up the real price of capital, as firms try to pass on to customers their higher financing costs. The higher price of capital reduces the demand for capital goods, and leads to a reduction of investment and output.

2.3.2 Entrepreneurial consumption and investment decisions

Entrepreneurs are infinitely lived, risk-neutral and more impatient than households. They discount the future at a rate $\beta\gamma$, where $0 < \gamma < 1$, and their utility is linear in entrepreneurial consumption. The higher degree of impatience relative to households induces entrepreneurs to consume a sufficiently high share of their net worth, so that they do not accumulate capital up to the point where there is no need for external finance and agency costs become irrelevant.

The problem of the entrepreneur is to maximize the expected value of the discounted stream of future utilities,

$$E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \left(\beta\gamma\right)^t e_{i,t}, \quad 0 < \gamma < 1, \tag{30}$$

subject to the budget constraint

$$e_{i,t} + q_t z_{i,t+1} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \omega_{it} \le \overline{\omega}_t \\ q_t (\omega_{it} - \overline{\omega}_t) I_{i,t} & \text{if } \omega_{it} \ge \overline{\omega}_t \end{cases},$$
(31)

Here $e_{i,t}$ denotes entrepreneurial consumption of the final good and $z_{i,t+1}$ is investment in physical capital to be used in period t + 1.

Assuming an interior solution, optimality requires that

$$q_{t} = \beta \gamma E_{t} \left\{ \frac{q_{t+1} f(\overline{\omega}_{t+1}) \left[q_{t+1} \left(1 - \delta \right) + \rho_{t+1} \right] \left(1 + i_{t+1} \right) / \Omega_{t+1}}{\left(1 + i_{t+1} \right) / \Omega_{t+1} - q_{t+1} g(\overline{\omega}_{t+1})} \right\}.$$
(32)



2.4 A Wicksellian monetary policy regime

The central bank follows a monetary policy rule described by

$$i_t = v_t \vartheta \left(\frac{\pi_t}{\pi_t^*}\right),\tag{33}$$

where $\vartheta(\cdot)$ is a non-negative-valued, non-decreasing function, π_t^* is the target path for the inflation rate, and v_t captures either a random disturbance to the policy rule or a systematic response of monetary policy to exogenous shocks.

Monetary policy also needs to specify an additional rule for either i_t^m or M_t^s . It is convenient to express this rule in terms of $\Delta_{m,t}$. We consider a general rule of the form

$$\Delta_{m,t} = \Gamma\left(i_t\right),\tag{34}$$

where $\Gamma(\cdot)$ is a non-negative-valued function.

2.5 Fiscal policy

The fiscal authorities decide on the subsidy Ω_t . They also use lump-sum taxes T_t to balance the government's budget at each period. This latter is given by

$$M_{t+1}^{s} - M_{t}^{s} + (\Omega_{t} - 1) \left(1 + i_{t}^{d} \right) D_{t} = T_{t}.$$
(35)

2.6 Market clearing

Market clearing for money, bonds, capital, investment, labor, loans and goods requires that

$$M_t = M_t^s \tag{36}$$

$$B_t = 0 \tag{37}$$

$$k_t = k_{h,t} + z_t \tag{38}$$

$$k_{t+1} = (1-\delta)k_t + I_t [1 - \mu \Phi(\overline{\omega}_t)]$$
(39)

$$h_t = l_t \tag{40}$$

$$D_t = P_t \left(I_t - n_t \right) \tag{41}$$

$$\left[\int_{0}^{1} y_t(j)^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} dj\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon-1}} = c_t + e_t + I_t.$$
(42)

2.7 Equilibrium

An equilibrium is a solution to the system of equations (7)-(10), (13)-(18), (27),(29), (32)-(42), together with definitions (11), (12), (20) and (21). A log-linearized reduced-form system of equilibrium conditions is reported in Appendix A.

3 The natural rate of interest

In the sticky price model considered by Woodford (2003), the natural rate of interest, defined as the equilibrium real rate of return when prices are fully flexible, acts as a summary statistic of the underlying economic conditions and provides a useful tool in the conduct of monetary policy. A monetary policy rule such that the policy instrument reacts proportionally to movements in the natural rate is able to ensure the achievement of price stability.

In the simplest version of the sticky price model, which abstracts from transactions costs and financial frictions and where labor is the only input in production, the natural rate of interest can be expressed solely as a function of the exogenous stochastic processes. In a version of the model that also includes capital, the natural rate depends on the exogenous stochastic processes and on the current level of the capital stock. In none of these cases, monetary policy exerts a direct influence on the natural rate. In fact, it is always possible to rewrite the flexible price version of these models in two separate blocks of equilibrium conditions. The first can be used to solve for the real variables (and for the equilibrium real rate of interest). The second consists of a Fisher relation, linking the real interest rate to the nominal rate and to expected inflation, and a monetary policy rule. This latter block provides a solution for the path of inflation and the nominal interest rate.

In our model, the dichotomy between the real interest rate which would prevail under flexible prices and monetary policy is lost. Even under flexible prices, the nominal interest rate affects the real side of the economy both through the terms of the financial contract and through changes in the opportunity cost of real balances. The first effect arises because of the nominal denomination of debt contracts, which implies that the credit spread $(1 + i_t^l) / (1 + i_t)$ affects real allocations even if prices are fully flexible. The second effect is due to the transactions role of money, which is captured by the timing of households' decisions as adopted in Lucas and Stokey (1987). The lack of dicothomy implies that the equilibrium real rate of interest under flexible prices can only be computed after specifying the policy rule adopted by the monetary authorities, i.e. the nominal interest rate. This is an undesirable property for a policy indicator. We therefore adopt a different notion of natural equilibrium, which is based on two additional assumptions beyond that of flexible prices.

The first additional assumption is that, in the ideal conditions prevailing in the natural equilibrium, debt is denominated in real terms (in spite of it being denominated in nominal terms in the actual economy). This assumption is analogous to the standard one, in which the natural rate is defined for an ideal flexible-price economy (when prices are assumed to be sticky in the actual economy). When debt is denominated in real terms, the spread which affects credit conditions is real, thus independent of monetary policy.

The second additional assumption is of a different nature. Following Woodford (2003), we note that there are circumstances under which transactions frictions play no role on the real allocation of resources, in spite of Lucas and Stokey's timing and of non-separability of real balances. This circumstances occur when real money balances are remunerated at a constant spread below the policy instrument. In our model, we obtain a similar result by remunerating money holdings – more precisely by setting a constant spread $\Delta_{m,t} = \Delta_m$, for all t. Relying on this property, we construct the natural rate under the assumption that real balances are remunerated at a constant spread in the natural equilibrium. Our definition of natural rate coincides with the real rate of return arising in an equilibrium in which the central bank is able to maintain the opportunity cost of money constant over time and all nominal frictions are absent, i.e.: i) prices have always been fully flexible and are expected to remain so in the indefinite future; ii) external finance takes the form of real debt. We will then analyse the properties of this definition in two cases: the one in which money holdings are remunerated *also* in the real economy, and the one in which they are not.

In the next section, we demonstrate that our notion of natural rate is independent of monetary policy. We also show that a natural rate rule based on this notion ensures that price stability is maintained at all times, if real money balances are remunerated at a constant spread below the policy instrument. If the spread varies over time, e.g. if money is not remunerated, the natural rate rule is not able to fully stabilize inflation. Nevertheless, our numerical results in section 5 suggest that deviations from price stability are likely to remain small.

3.1 A modified definition of natural rate

To characterise the natural equilibrium, in which variables will be denoted by a subscript n, we set the spread $\Delta_{m,t}$ to a constant, we set to zero the probability that firms producing intermediate goods are unable to reoptimise their prices ($\theta = 0$), and we assume that the government is able to compensate households for the presence of expected inflation by providing a subsidy equal to the ratio between the nominal return on a one-period risk-free asset and the real rate of interest, i.e.

$$\Omega_{n,t} = \frac{1 + i_{n,t}}{1 + r_{n,t}}.$$
(43)

Notice that under this subsidy, the effective return paid by the financial intermediary to the household, $\frac{1+i_{n,t}}{\Omega_{n,t}}$, corresponds to the real interest rate.

The non-linear system of equilibrium conditions describing this natural equilibrium is reported in Appendix B. Here, we find it convenient to use the log-linearized system around a steady state with zero inflation, which can be written in matrix form as

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widehat{Z}_{n,t+1} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Upsilon_{(10x10)} \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{Z}_{n,t} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t} \end{bmatrix} + \Sigma_{(10x3)} s_t$$
(44)

$$E_t s_{t+1} = \Phi_s s_t + \varepsilon_t, \tag{45}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{Z}_{n,t} &\equiv \left[\begin{array}{ccc} \widehat{c}_{n,t} & \widehat{e}_{n,t} & \widehat{h}_{n,t} & \widehat{I}_{n,t} & \widehat{q}_{n,t} & \widehat{\rho}_{n,t} & \widehat{\omega}_{n,t} & \widehat{r}_{n,t} \end{array} \right]', \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t} &\equiv \left[\begin{array}{ccc} \widehat{k}_t & \widehat{z}_t \end{array} \right]', \\ s_t &\equiv \left[\begin{array}{ccc} A_t & \xi_t & \psi_t \end{array} \right]', \end{aligned}$$

 ε_t is a vector of iid random processes, Υ and Σ are coefficient matrices, and variables with a hat denote percentage deviations of a variable from its steady state level.

Using standard methods (see Appendix C), the system can be solved to yield

$$\widehat{X}_{n,t+1} = \widehat{X}_{n,t+1}^{s} + \Psi_{xx}\widehat{X}_{n,t},$$
(46)

$$E_t \widehat{Z}_{n,t+1} = E_t \Psi_{zs'} \left(L^{-1} \right) s_t - \left(V_1' \right)^{-1} V_2' \Psi_{xx} \widehat{X}_{n,t}, \tag{47}$$

where $\widehat{X}_{n,t+1}^{s}$, Ψ_{xx} and $\Psi_{zs'}$ are defined in appendix C. Here $\widehat{X}_{n,t+1}^{s}$ denotes the component of the evolution of the endogenous state variables that depends only on exogenous real disturbances, while Ψ_{xx} and $\Psi_{zs'}$ are coefficient matrices.



Moreover, the equilibrium condition for the natural rate of interest \hat{r}_t^n can be written as

$$\widehat{r}_{n,t} = \widehat{r}_{n,t}^s + \Psi_{rx}\widehat{X}_{n,t},\tag{48}$$

where $\hat{r}_{n,t}^s$ denotes the component of the natural rate that exclusively depends on exogenous real disturbances and Ψ_{rx} is a coefficient matrix (both defined in Appendix C). Equation (48) solves for the natural rate of interest as a function of the exogenous stochastic processes, given the actual values of the endogenous state variables, $\hat{X}_{n,t} \equiv \hat{X}_t$. The natural rate is independent of any nominal variable, and thus of the monetary policy rule. Our definition of the natural rate is therefore apt to be used as a policy indicator.

3.2 Price stability under a Wicksellian monetary policy regime

We now demonstrate that, if the spread between the policy instrument and the return on money is kept constant, a policy such that the short-term real interest rate tracks our definition of the natural rate is able to ensure price stability. If money cannot be remunerated or if the spread varies over time, however, price stability cannot be achieved. We wish to emphasise that, in both cases, the subsidy Ω_t is absent from the actual economy (where $\Omega_t = 1$).

As a first step, it is useful to write the log-linearized system of equilibrium conditions in terms of gaps between the observed variables and those arising in an equilibrium with flexible prices and subsidized nominal debt.

Define the vector of policy instruments as $\hat{\delta}_t \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \hat{i}_t & \hat{\Omega}_t & \hat{\Delta}_{m,t} \end{bmatrix}'$ and denote with a tilde the gap of each variable relative to its natural level. Notice that $\tilde{\chi}_t = \hat{\chi}_t, \ \tilde{\pi}_t = \hat{\pi}_t, \ \tilde{\Omega}_t = -\hat{\Omega}_{n,t}$ and $\tilde{\Delta}_{m,t} = \hat{\Delta}_{m,t}$. The system can thus be written as

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} \\ \widetilde{X}_{t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Upsilon'_{(11x11)} \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \\ \widetilde{X}_t \end{bmatrix} + \Xi'_{(11x3)} \widetilde{\delta}_t + \Psi'_{(11x1)} \widetilde{r}_t$$
(49)

$$\widetilde{r}_t = \widehat{i}_t - \kappa'_0 E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} - \widehat{r}_{n,t}$$
(50)

$$\hat{i}_t = v_t + \vartheta_\pi \kappa_1^\prime \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \tag{51}$$

where for convenience we have listed separately the condition for the gap between the real rate of interest and its natural level. Here

$$\widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{c}_t - \widehat{c}_{n,t} & \widehat{e}_t - \widehat{e}_{n,t} & \widehat{h}_t - \widehat{h}_{n,t} & \widehat{I}_t - \widehat{I}_{n,t} & \widehat{q}_t - \widehat{q}_{n,t} & \widehat{\rho}_t - \widehat{\rho}_{n,t} & \widehat{\omega}_t - \widehat{\omega}_{n,t} & \widehat{\pi}_t & \widehat{\chi}_t \end{bmatrix}'$$

$$\widetilde{X}_t \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{k}_t - \widehat{k}_{n,t} & \widehat{z}_t - \widehat{z}_{n,t} \end{bmatrix}', \quad \widetilde{\delta}_t = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -E_t \widehat{\pi}_{t+1} & \widehat{\Delta}_{m,t} \end{bmatrix}'.$$

and κ'_0 in equation (50) and κ'_1 in equation (51) denote vectors with all zeros except for the coefficients on expected and current inflation, respectively. Since our definition of a natural equilibrium is based on the current value of the predetermined variables, $\tilde{X}_t = 0$.

We now investigate whether an interest rate rule that uses the natural rate as an intercept, i.e. a rule such that $v_t = \hat{r}_{n,t}$ is consistent with price stability.

Case I: $\widehat{\Delta}_{m,t} = 0.$

Complete stabilization of inflation implies that $\hat{\pi}_t = 0$, for all t, so that $\delta_t = 0$ and

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} \\ \widetilde{X}_{t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \widetilde{\Upsilon}' \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \overline{\Psi}' \widetilde{r}_t$$
$$\widetilde{r}_t = \widehat{i}_t - \widehat{r}_{n,t}$$
$$\widehat{i}_t = \widehat{v}_t$$

A necessary condition for the gaps to be closed at all times, i.e. for $E_t \tilde{Z}_{1,t+1} = \tilde{Z}_{1,t} = 0$ for all t, is

$$\widehat{v}_t = \widehat{r}_{n,t}.\tag{52}$$

Notice that a monetary policy rule satisfying condition (52) is consistent with an equilibrium with zero inflation at all times, but it might be consistent also with many other equilibria. To ensure that the zero-inflation equilibrium is the only one decentralized by a natural rate rule, we need to impose restrictions on the policy parameters that achieve determinacy of rationalexpectations equilibrium. To do so, substitute condition (52) into equations (49)-(51). Using the definition of the vector of policy instruments $\tilde{\delta}_t$, we can rewrite the system as

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} \\ \widetilde{X}_{t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Upsilon'_{(11x11)} \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \Xi'_{(11x3)} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \Psi'_{(11x1)} \widetilde{r}_t$$
$$\widetilde{r}_t = \vartheta_\pi \kappa'_1 \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} - \kappa'_0 E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1},$$

or as

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widetilde{Z}_{2,t+1} \\ \widetilde{X}_{t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \mathop{\mathsf{F}'}_{(12x12)} \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{Z}_{2,t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where now $\widetilde{Z}_{2,t} \equiv \left[\widetilde{Z}_{1,t}, \widetilde{r}_t\right]$ and \digamma is a new, suitably defined matrix of coefficients. Since the system includes two pre-determined variables, equilibrium determinacy under a natural rate

rule is ensured if and only if the matrix F' has exactly 10 eigenvalues outside the unit circle (i.e. with modulus greater than one in absolute value).

Case II: $\widehat{\Delta}_{m,t} = \frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma} \widehat{i}_t.$

Complete stabilization of inflation implies that $\hat{\pi}_t = 0$, for all t, and

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} \\ \widetilde{X}_{t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \overline{\Upsilon}' \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \overline{\Xi}' \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \widehat{v}_t \end{bmatrix} + \overline{\Psi}' \widetilde{r}_t$$
$$\widetilde{r}_t = \widehat{i}_t - \widehat{r}_{n,t}$$
$$\widehat{i}_t = \widehat{v}_t$$

It follows that a policy where condition (52) holds leads to the following path of the endogenous variables

$$E_t \widetilde{Z}_{1,t+1} = \Upsilon_{11}' \widetilde{Z}_{1,t} + \overline{\Xi}_{13}' \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \widehat{r}_{n,t}.$$

Hence, a natural rate rule is not consistent with complete stabilization of prices, since it does not implement an equilibrium where $E_t \tilde{Z}_{t+1} = \tilde{Z}_t = 0$, for all t. In the next section, we study whether deviations from price stability can be large in a calibrated version of the model.

4 Numerical analysis

In this section, we illustrate the properties of the natural rate of interest through a numerical analysis.

The specific form of the utility function is described in Appendix D. With the exception of the risk-aversion parameter, which we calibrate at 3 (instead of 1) for reasons which will be clarified below, the other structural parameter values are set following Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997). More specifically, monitoring costs are set at 25% of the firm's output (i.e. $\mu =$ 0.25) and we calibrate the standard deviations of idiosyncratic shocks (σ_{ω}) and the average entrepreneurs' time preference so that approximately 1% of firms go bankrupt each quarter and the annualized spread between loan rates and the policy interest rate is approximately 2%. In our model, this procedure generates somewhat different values from those in Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997). The reason is that in our model, differently from the Carlstrom and Fuerst setup, the premium is charged on a positive interest rate. For given values of σ_{ω} and the entrepreneurs' time preference, the higher overall cost of credit in our model would imply that more firms go bankrupt and, in turn, that a higher premium is charged on average. Thus, our model generates the observed default rate and risk premium with a lower variance of idiosyncratic shocks and more impatient entrepreneurs.²

As to monopolistic competition and retail pricing, we assume $\varepsilon = 7$, leading to a steadystate mark-up of 17%, and a probability of not being able to re-optimise prices $\theta = 0.66$, implying that prices are changed on average every 3 quarters. Finally, the money demand function $L(c_t, \Delta_{m,t}; \xi_t)$ is calibrated so as to roughly match, in steady state, the real balances to output ratio observed in US data. In order to highlight the role of transactions frictions, we will analyse below the case in which money is not remunerated at all.³ At the end of 2006, the ratio of currency in circulation to GDP was equal to 6% in the US, while the M1-to-GDP ratio was equal to 10%. We calibrate the model so that, in steady state, non-remunerated money balances are equal to 10% of yearly output (40% of quarterly output).⁴

Concerning shocks, the technology process is specified as in typical RBC calibrations, namely as an autoregressive process with autocorrelation coefficient $\rho_a = 0.95$ and a 1% standard deviation (i.e. $\sigma_a = 0.01$). All the other shock processes are assumed to have an autocorrelation coefficient equal to 0.9; their standard deviations are also set to 1%.

4.1 Price stability and natural rate dynamics

Figure 1 shows the impulse responses to a 1-standard deviation technology shock under a natural rate rule for our benchmark model with credit frictions and constant Δ_m , and for the corresponding model without credit frictions (namely the limiting case of our model in which $\mu = 0$).

In spite of the presence of nominal debt, our results concerning real variables are broadly in line with those in figure 2 of Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997).⁵ The notable difference in the impulse responses of the model with agency costs, compared to the model without credit frictions, is the hump-shaped response of investment and output (as well as hours, not shown

²More specifically, we need $\gamma = 0.88$ and $\sigma_{\omega} = 0.065$ to generate a bankrupcy rate of 0.9% per quarter, and an annualised spread $i^l - i = 2.1\%$.

³This assumption potentially overestimates the role of transactions frictions. Nonetheless, the numerical results reported later on in this section suggest a limited role of money balances for the dynamics.

⁴This implies $\iota = .9958$ in the utility function specified in the appendix.

⁵Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997) consider an economy with flexible prices. Our model replicates the flexible prices case under a natural rate rule.

in the figure). This is mainly due to the dynamic behavior of net worth, which is initially constrained by the fact that entrepreneurial capital is fixed. The increased demand for capital, however, leads to an increase in the price of capital and in the return on internal funds, thus, over time, an increase in entrepreneurial capital and net worth. Net worth keeps increasing as long as the price of capital is above the baseline, i.e. for two periods. Thereafter, the impulse responses of output and investment mimic those of the model without credit frictions.

To reap the benefits of the higher return on internal funds and invest more, entrepreneurs also reduce their consumption sharply (around 20% on impact). The corresponding share of output is partly consumed by households, whose consumption increases much more, on impact, than in the case without credit frictions. This effect only lasts one period, because in the second period after the shock entrepreneurs also start consuming more than in steady state. Thereafter, households' consumption follows the same pattern as in the model without credit frictions (albeit at a slightly lower level because of the output share consumed by entrepreneurs).

Figure 1 illustrates the appealing property (shown analytically in section 3.2) that a policy rule which tracks the natural interest rate is consistent with the maintenance of price stability at all times. In the model with agency costs, the technology shock would tend to create larger initial deflationary pressures, compared to the case without credit frictions. The impact fall in the policy interest rate provides the stimulus to aggregate demand which is necessary to ensure that no pressures ensue on marginal costs and final prices.

Nonetheless, the figure also shows a sensitivity of the natural rate to the underlying model assumptions. The dynamic path of the natural rate (which coincides with the nominal interest rate, since Δ_m is constant and inflation is zero at all times) is determined by the response of household consumption. In the case without credit frictions, expected consumption growth is positive but decreasing over time, which leads to a protracted increase in the natural rate. On the contrary, in the model with agency costs, household consumption is expected to fall from the peak of the impact response. Thus, the natural rate falls on impact. The dynamics of the natural rate are roughly consistent with those of the model without credit frictions as of the third period after the shock.

4.2 Money remuneration

Figure 2 illustrates, for the model with agency costs, the role of transactions costs by comparing the performance of a natural rate rule in the cases of constant Δ_m and $i_m = 0$. The difference arises because of the behavior of real balances. In the constant Δ_m case, real balances remain roughly constant (they rise on impact by just 0.3 percentage points and then follow a pattern that closely mimics that of household consumption). When $i_m = 0$, however, the demand for real balances is affected by the decrease in their opportunity costs, the nominal interest rate. The figure shows that this component is important in our calibration: real balances increase by over 12 percentage points – i.e. 40 times more than in the constant Δ_m case – before falling persistently below steady state in the second period after the shock. The higher demand for real balances is satisfied through an increase in money supply and a decrease in the price of final goods, which induces a bit of deflation in the economy. This result confirms that the natural rate rule is unable to stabilise inflation perfectly when real balances are not remunerated. Nevertheless, price stability is still achieved in approximate terms. A shock causing more than a 1% increase in output reduces inflation temporarily (1 period) by just 1 basis point.

4.3 Nominal debt contracts and the real effects of monetary policy

Figure 3 shows that the combination of credit frictions and nominal debt can be a significant source of monetary policy non-neutrality. For the case where Δ_m is constant and thus prices are fully flexible, the figure compares the impulse responses to a monetary policy shock under a simple Taylor rule (with constant intercept and an inflation response coefficient equal to 1.5) in the model with credit frictions and in the corresponding model without credit frictions.

In the economy without credit frictions, a change in the policy interest rate produces no real effects: a reduction in the nominal interest rate leads to a fall in inflation so as to leave the real rate constant. In the economy with credit frictions and nominal debt, however, the reduction in the policy rate stimulates investment through a reduction of the price of capital, thus mitigating the deflationary effect of the shock arising under flexible prices. The net effect is a small increase in the real interest rate, and a reduction in households' consumption. Entrepreneurial consumption also falls to allow the initial increase in investment for given net worth. In spite of a small reduction in both household and entrepreneurial consumption, the overall effect is an increase in output.

The economic expansion triggers the slow process of accumulation, and then decumulation, of net worth. As a result, the response of all variables to the shock is very persistent over time.

5 Robustness

In our model, the formulation of the costly state verification problem arising in the investment sector closely follows the one proposed by Carlstrom and Fuerst (1997), the main difference being the nominal denomination of debt. One appealing feature of this setup is that the optimal contract between lenders and borrowers generates a loan rate that differs from the risk-free rate because of a time-varying premium on external finance. Thus, the dynamics of the risk-free rate and of the loan rate need not coincide. Another attractive feature is that the model generates a humped-shaped response of investment to a technology shock, without the need to assume ad-hoc adjustment costs in investment. Nonetheless, the assumption of risk-neutrality of the entrepreneurs, which is needed for the optimality of the debt contract, is responsible for some undesirable properties of the model.

First, the model predicts that the default rate of firms increases in periods of expansions, while the opposite is observed in the data (see e.g. Levin et al. (2004)). The reason is that a favourable technology shock increases the demand for investment while firms' net worth remains initially constant. Under these circumstances, the optimal solution to the costly state verification problem generates an increase in the loan rate, thus raising the occurrence of default on impact. An implication of this property is that the response of output and other aggregate variables is dampened, rather than amplified, by the presence of financial frictions.

A second undesirable property of the model is that households and entrepreneurs are radically different agents. Not only households are risk-averse while entrepreneurs are risk neutral but these two type of agents also differ in their willingness to substitute consumption intertemporally. Hoseholds have a finite intertemporal elasticity of substitution while the same elasticity is infinite for entrepreneurs. As a result, the model generates very sharp fluctuations in entrepreneurial consumption (and consequently in household consumption) in reaction to aggregate shocks. In this section, we use a variant of the financial accelerator model that we propose in a companion paper (De Fiore and Tristani (2007)). We continue to assume that entrepreneurs are risk neutral, but we allow for a finite elasticity of intertemporal substitution of consumption across different points in time. Since risk aversion and intertemporal substitution are inextricably linked under standard expected utility preferences, we rely on the class of preferences proposed by Epstein and Zin (1989) and Weil (1990). Under these preferences, the optimality of the contract is preserved, while it is possible to impose the same intertemporal elasticity of substitution for households and entrepreneurs.

More specifically, entrepreneurial utility can be written in terms of the aggregator function

$$V_{i,t} = \left[(1 - \beta \gamma) e_{i,t}^{1-\zeta} + \beta \gamma (\mathbf{E}_t V_{i,t+1})^{1-\zeta} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\zeta}},$$

where $\zeta \geq 0$ is the inverse of the elasticity of intertemporal substitution, which we set to be identical to that of households. The Bellman equation for the maximisation problem of entrepreneurs, subject to the budget constraint (31), can be written as (see e.g. Weil, 1990)

$$\widetilde{V}(z_{i,t}) = \max_{e_{i,t}} \left[(1 - \beta\gamma) e_{i,t}^{1-\zeta} + \beta\gamma \left(\mathbb{E}_t \widetilde{V}(z_{i,t+1}) \right)^{1-\zeta} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\zeta}}$$

The first-order condition is given by

$$q_{t} = \beta \gamma \left(\mathbf{E}_{t} \widetilde{V} \left(z_{i,t+1} \right) \right)^{-\zeta} \mathbf{E}_{t} \left\{ \frac{\left[\left(1 - \beta \gamma \right) e_{i,t+1}^{1-\zeta} + \beta \gamma \left(\mathbf{E}_{t+1} \widetilde{V} \left(z_{i,t+2} \right) \right)^{1-\zeta} \right]^{\frac{\zeta}{1-\zeta}}}{\left(\frac{e_{i,t+1}}{e_{i,t}} \right)^{\zeta}} q_{t+1} f \left(\overline{\omega}_{t+1} \right) \frac{I_{i,t+1}}{z_{i,t+1}} \right\}$$

where $I_{i,t+1}$ is given by equations (26) and (19).

Contrary to the case analysed in section 2.3.2, aggregation over all entrepreneurs is not straightforward in the nonlinear model. We therefore only study the equilibrium in a first-order approximation of the model around the non-stochastic steady state.⁶

One implication of the finite level of the intertemporal elasticity of substitution of consumption is that, following an aggregate productivity shock, entrepreneurs are not willing to cut their consumption by 20% in order to increase their investment in capital. Since they know

⁶It is straightforward to verify that, in the non-stochastic steady-state, entrepreneurial consumption and utility drop out of the first-order condition for the optimisation problem of the entrepreneurs. The system characterising the non-stochastic steady state is therefore identical to the one we obtain under linear entrepreneurial utility. To characterise the first-order dynamics, we first linearise the first-order conditions for each entrepreneur, and then aggregate over all entrepreneurs.

that they will eventually increase their consumption in the future, entrepreneurs increase it immediately by around 2%. Figure 4 shows that, as a consequence, household consumption also fluctuates less sharply relative to the $\zeta = 0$ case. At the same time, entrepreneurs' desire to smooth their consumption over time implies that the convergence of all variables to the path they follow in the absence of credit frictions is much slower.

The default rate rises on impact following a favourable aggregate productivity shock but falls below baseline after 5 quarters. We use $\zeta = 3$ in the calibration, because it is the minimum value of this parameter for which the unconditional correlation of the default rate and output becomes negative, as in the data. The reason is related to entrepreneurs' unwillingness to cut their consumption sharply after the shock. This results in a more gradual accumulation of net worth and investment, as shown in Figure 4. The peak of net worth is lower than in figure 1 and is reached after 7 quarters instead of 2. The gradual accumulation of net worth together with the reduced demand for investment implies that the spread between the loan and the policy rate increases more on impact, but falls below baseline on the 5-th quarter after the shock. This fall brings about a more persistent response of investment and output, compared to the case without credit frictions.

Figure 4 shows that the results obtained in section 3 are robust to the introduction of this class of preferences. On the one hand, an economy where the central bank commits to a natural rate rule can achieve complete stabilization of prices. On the other hand, the natural rate features qualitatively different behaviour in the models with and without credit frictions. In the former economy it falls on impact, while it rises in the latter. Moreover, the difference between the two cases is more persistent. The behaviour of some variables under the two models, e.g. household's consumption, does not converge even after 3 years.

Figure 5 shows that the dynamic response of the natural rate of interest depends on the underlying model assumptions under various aggregate shocks. In the cases of technology and labour supply shocks, the impact response have the opposite sign in the models with and without credit frictions. For shocks to consumption preferences, the sign of the impact responses is unchanged, but the size is significantly larger in the model with credit frictions. In all cases, the differences are very persistent: they only become smaller after 3 years.

More specifically, a labour supply shock, i.e. an increase in the disutility of labour, ultimately brings about a reduction in output regardless of the presence of credit frictions. In the case with frictions, however, entrepreneurs' net worth is reduced very slowly, so the fall in investment and output is smaller on impact, but more persistent. The more protracted fall in output is reflected in a deeper fall in households' consumption, which drops on impact and then increases towards the steady state. Expectations of future increases in consumption are what triggers the increase in the natural rate.

A preference shock amounts to a persistent increase in households' consumption demand, which is partly satisfied through a substitution of consumption for investment. As in the case of a labour supply shock, the fall in investment is smaller on impact, but more persistent, in the model with credit frictions. This has a dampening effect on future output which, in turn, causes a slightly smaller increase in households' consumption, compared to the case without credit frictions. At the same time, however, the shock has a direct positive impact on the marginal utility of consumption, which increases in spite of the increase in consumption level. This is what determined the increase in the natural rate, which is slightly larger in the case with credit frictions because of the smaller increase in households' consumption.

6 Conclusions

We have presented a sticky price model where monetary policy exerts real effects under flexible prices for two reasons. First, money balances yield liquidity services. Second, firms need to raise external finance in order to produce and this latter takes the form of nominal debt.

We have argued that in our economy the notion of natural rate of interest generally adopted in the literature, namely the equilibrium real rate of return arising under flexible prices, is not a useful indicator for the conduct of monetary policy because it is not independent of the nominal interest rate. Our proposed notion, based on the idea of switching off all nominal (but not real) frictions, is both independent of the monetary policy instrument and useful in the achievement of price stability. More specifically, if the spread between the own return on money and the nominal interest rate is constant over time, our definition of natural interest rate delivers price stability if used as the intercept of an interest rate rule. If the spread cannot be kept constant, also our notion of natural rate is not independent of monetary policy. Nevertheless, under reasonable calibrations of the model, we find that deviations from price stability would be very small if the central bank were to abstract from transaction frictions in the definition of natural rate and track this 'approximate' notion instead. We have also shown that the natural rate reacts differently to aggregate shocks - not only quantitatively but also qualitatively – depending on the underlying model assuptions (e.g. whether or not financial market are frictionless). Therefore, it might be difficult for a central bank that is uncertain about the true model of the economy to identify its movements and to use it as regular indicator for the conduct of monetary policy.

Appendix

A. The reduced-form system of equilibrium conditions

Define $p_t(j) \equiv \frac{P_t(j)}{P_t}$ and variables with a tilde as the corresponding variables in a log-linear approximation around a steady state with zero inflation. The log-linearized system of equilibrium conditions can be written as a block of intra-temporal conditions

$$(1+\overline{v})\,\widehat{h}_{t} = -\sigma^{-1}\widehat{c}_{t} - \sigma_{\Delta}^{-1}\widehat{\Delta}_{m,t} + \widehat{y}_{t} + \widehat{h}_{c}\xi_{t} - \overline{h}_{h}\psi_{t}$$

$$\widehat{\rho}_{t} = \widehat{y}_{t} + \widehat{\chi}_{t} - \widehat{k}_{t}$$

$$\widehat{y}_{t} = \widehat{c}_{t}\widehat{c}_{t} + \frac{e}{y}\widehat{e}_{t} + \frac{I}{y}\widehat{I}_{t}$$

$$\widehat{y}_{t} = \widehat{A}_{t} + \alpha\widehat{h}_{t} + (1-\alpha)\widehat{k}_{t}$$

$$\epsilon_{\omega}\widehat{\omega}_{t} = \widehat{i}_{t} - \widehat{q}_{t} - \widehat{\Omega}_{t}$$

$$\widehat{I}_{t} = \frac{qg'\overline{\omega}n}{I}\frac{(1+i)}{\Omega}\widehat{\omega}_{t} - \left(\frac{I}{n} - 1\right)\left(\widehat{i}_{t} - \widehat{\Omega}_{t}\right) + \widehat{z}_{t} + \frac{q(1-\delta)}{[q(1-\delta)+\rho]}\widehat{q}_{t} + \frac{\rho}{[q(1-\delta)+\rho]}\widehat{\rho}_{t}.$$

a block of law of motions for the state variables

$$\widehat{k}_{t+1} = (1-\delta)\widehat{k}_t + \delta\widehat{I}_t - \mu\phi\overline{\omega}\frac{I}{k}\widehat{\omega}_t \widehat{z}_{t+1} = \frac{(e+qz)}{qz}\left(\widehat{I}_t + \frac{f'\overline{\omega}}{f}\widehat{\omega}_t\right) - \frac{e}{qz}\widehat{e}_t - \frac{q(z-fI)}{qz}\widehat{q}_t$$

a block of intertemporal conditions

$$\begin{split} \hat{i}_{t} &= \eta_{c}^{-1} \left(E_{t} \hat{c}_{t+1} - \hat{c}_{t} \right) + \eta_{\Delta}^{-1} \left(E_{t} \hat{\Delta}_{m,t+1} - \hat{\Delta}_{m,t} \right) - \overline{h}_{\xi} \left(E_{t} \xi_{t+1} - \xi_{t} \right) + E_{t} \hat{\pi}_{t+1}, \\ &\sigma_{c}^{-1} \left(E_{t} \hat{c}_{t+1} - \hat{c}_{t} \right) + \sigma_{\Delta}^{-1} \left(E_{t} \hat{\Delta}_{m,t+1} - \hat{\Delta}_{m,t} \right) - \overline{h}_{c} \left(E_{t} \xi_{t+1} - \xi_{t} \right) \\ &= \frac{q \left(1 - \delta \right)}{\left[q \left(1 - \delta \right) + \rho \right]} E_{t} \hat{q}_{t+1} - \hat{q}_{t} + \frac{\rho}{\left[q \left(1 - \delta \right) + \rho \right]} E_{t} \hat{\rho}_{t+1}, \\ \hat{q}_{t} &= \hat{\gamma}_{t} + \left(\frac{g' \overline{\omega} I \Omega}{n \left(1 + i \right)} + \frac{f'}{f} \right) E_{t} \hat{\overline{\omega}}_{t+1} + \left(1 - \frac{I}{n} \right) E_{t} \left(\hat{i}_{t+1} - \hat{\Omega}_{t+1} \right) \\ &+ \left[1 + \frac{q \left(1 - \delta \right)}{\left[q \left(1 - \delta \right) + \rho \right]} + \frac{q g I \Omega}{n \left(1 + i \right)} \right] E_{t} \hat{q}_{t+1} + \frac{\rho}{\left[q \left(1 - \delta \right) + \rho \right]} E_{t} \hat{\rho}_{t+1}, \\ \hat{\pi}_{t} &= \lambda \hat{\chi}_{t} + \beta E_{t} \hat{\pi}_{t+1}, \end{split}$$

and a block of policy functions

$$\widehat{i}_t = v_t + \vartheta_\pi \pi_t \widehat{\Delta}_{m,t} = \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \widehat{i}_t \widehat{\Omega}_t = E_t \widehat{\pi}_{t+1},$$

where the coefficients need to satisfy

$$\begin{split} \sigma_c^{-1} &\equiv -\frac{U_{cc}c}{U_c}, \ \sigma_{\Delta}^{-1} \equiv -\frac{U_{c\Delta}\Delta_m}{U_c}, \ \overline{v} \equiv h\frac{v_{hh}}{v_h} \\ \overline{h}_c &\equiv \frac{U_{c\xi}}{U_c}, \ \overline{h}_h \equiv \frac{v_{h\psi}}{v_h}, \ \overline{h}_{\xi} \equiv \frac{U_{c\xi} + U_{m\xi}}{U_c + U_m} \\ \eta_c^{-1} &\equiv -\left(\frac{U_{cc} + U_{mc}}{U_c + U_m}\right)c > 0, \ \eta_{\Delta}^{-1} \equiv -\left(\frac{U_{c\Delta} + U_{m\Delta}}{U_c + U_m}\right)\Delta_m > 0 \\ \epsilon_\omega &\equiv \frac{\mu\overline{\omega}\phi}{\left(1 - \mu\Phi + \frac{f\phi\mu\overline{\omega}}{f'}\right)} \left[\overline{\omega} - 1 + \frac{f}{f'}\left(1 + \frac{\phi'\overline{\omega}}{\phi} - \frac{\phi\overline{\omega}}{f'}\right)\right] \\ \lambda &\equiv \frac{(1 - \theta)\left(1 - \theta\beta\right)}{\theta}. \end{split}$$

The system consists of 15 equations and provides a solution for the path of the endogenous variables $\{\widehat{c}_t, \widehat{e}_t, \widehat{h}_t, \widehat{I}_t, \widehat{y}_t, \widehat{q}_t, \widehat{\rho}_t, \widehat{\chi}_t, \widehat{\overline{\omega}}_t, \widehat{\pi}_t\}$, the policy variables $\{\widehat{i}_t, \widehat{\Omega}_t, \widehat{\Delta}_{m,t}\}$ and the state variables $\{\widehat{k}_{t+1}, \widehat{z}_{t+1}\}$, given the law of motion of the exogenous stochastic processes $\{A_t, \xi_t, \psi_t\}$.

B. The natural equilibrium

We define with a subscript *n* the variables obtained in a natural equilibrium, where prices are flexible, $\Delta_{n,m,t} = \Delta_{n,m}$, and $\Omega_{n,t}$ is described by (43), given the currently observed level of all exogenous and predetermined variables.

Recall that in a natural equilibrium, $\chi_t = \chi = \frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}$. We can thus derive the path of the natural rate of interest by solving the following system of equations,

$$\frac{v_h (h_{n,t}; \psi_t)}{U_c (c_{n,t}; \xi_t)} = \chi \alpha A_t h_{n,t}^{\alpha - 1} k_t^{1 - \alpha}$$

$$(1 + r_{n,t})^{-1} = \beta E_t \left\{ \frac{U_c (c_{n,t+1}; \xi_{t+1}) + U_m (c_{n,t+1}; \xi_{t+1})}{U_c (c_{n,t}; \xi_t) + U_m (c_{n,t}; \xi_t)} \right\}$$

$$U_c (c_{n,t}; \xi_t) q_{n,t} = \beta E_t \left\{ U_c \left(c_{n,t+1}; \xi_{t+1} \right) \left[q_{n,t+1} (1 - \delta) + \rho_{n,t+1} \right] \right\}$$

$$\rho_{n,t} = \chi (1 - \alpha) A_t h_{n,t}^{\alpha} k_t^{-\alpha}$$
(53)



$$\begin{split} A_{t}h_{n,t}^{\alpha}k_{t}^{1-\alpha} &= c_{n,t} + e_{n,t} + I_{n,t} \\ e_{n,t} + q_{n,t}z_{n,t+1} &= q_{n,t}f(\overline{\omega}_{n,t})I_{n,t} \\ k_{n,t+1} &= (1-\delta)k_{n,t} + I_{n,t}\left[1 - \mu\Phi\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right)\right] \\ q_{n,t}\left[1 - \mu\Phi\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right) + \frac{\mu\overline{\omega}_{n,t}f\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right)\phi\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right)}{f'\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right)}\right] &= 1 + r_{n,t} \\ I_{n,t}\left[(1 + r_{n,t}) - q_{n,t}g\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t}\right)\right] &= \left[q_{n,t}\left(1 - \delta\right) + \rho_{n,t}\right]z_{t}\left(1 + r_{n,t}\right) \\ q_{n,t} &= \beta\gamma_{t}E_{t}\left\{q_{n,t+1}f\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t+1}\right)\left[\frac{\left[q_{n,t+1}\left(1 - \delta\right) + \rho_{n,t+1}\right]\left(1 + r_{n,t}\right)}{(1 + r_{n,t}) - q_{n,t+1}g\left(\overline{\omega}_{n,t+1}\right)}\right]\right\} \end{split}$$

The system has 10 equations and can be solved for the variables $\{c_{n,t}, e_{n,t}, h_{n,t}, I_{n,t}, q_{n,t}, \rho_{n,t}, \overline{\omega}_{n,t}, r_{n,t}\}$ and $\{k_{n,t+1}, z_{n,t+1}\}$, for given law of motion of the stochastic processes $\{A_t, \xi_t, \psi_t\}$ and initial value of the predetermined variables $\{k_t, z_t\}$.

C. Solution of the natural equilibrium: the log-linearized system

The log-linearized system characterizing the natural equilibrium can be written as in equation (44) and (45), where

$$\Upsilon_{(10x10)} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \Upsilon_{11} & \Upsilon_{12} \\ {}^{(8x8)} & {}^{(8x2)} \\ \Upsilon_{21} & \Upsilon_{22} \\ {}^{(2x8)} & {}^{(2x2)} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \sum_{(10x3)} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_1 \\ {}^{(8x3)} \\ \Sigma_2 \\ {}^{(2x3)} \end{bmatrix},$$

are coefficient matrices. Let

$$V'\Upsilon = \Lambda V',$$

where all the eigenvalues of Λ are outside the unit circle. The system (44) can be rewritten as

$$V' \begin{bmatrix} E_t \widehat{Z}_{n,t+1} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Lambda V' \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{Z}_{n,t} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t} \end{bmatrix} + V' \Sigma s_t.$$

Define now

$$\widehat{\varphi}_{n,t} \equiv V' \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{Z}_{n,t} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V'_1 & V'_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{Z}_{n,t} \\ \widehat{X}_{n,t} \end{bmatrix}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\varphi}_{n,t} &= \Lambda^{-1} \left\{ E_t \widehat{\varphi}_{n,t+1} - V' \Sigma s_t \right\} \\ &= E_t \left[\Psi_{\varphi s} \left(L^{-1} \right) s_t \right] \end{aligned}$$
where $\Psi_{\varphi s}\left(L^{-1}\right) \equiv -\Lambda^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{1-\Lambda^{-1}L^{-1}}\right)V'\Sigma$, and

$$\widehat{Z}_{n,t} = (V_1')^{-1} \left(\widehat{\varphi}_{n,t} - V_2' \widehat{X}_{n,t} \right) = (V_1')^{-1} \left[E_t \left[\Psi_{\varphi s} \left(L^{-1} \right) s_t \right] - V_2' \widehat{X}_{n,t} \right].$$
(54)

Moreover,

$$\widehat{X}_{n,t+1} = \Upsilon_{21}\widehat{Z}_{n,t} + \Upsilon_{22}\widehat{X}_{n,t} + \Sigma_2 s_t \tag{55}$$

$$= \widehat{X}_{n,t+1}^s + \Psi_{xx} \widehat{X}_{n,t}, \tag{56}$$

where $\widehat{X}_{n,t+1}^{s} \equiv \left\{ \Upsilon_{21} \left(V_{1}^{\prime} \right)^{-1} E_{t} \Psi_{\varphi s} \left(L^{-1} \right) + \Sigma_{2} \right\} s_{t}$ is the component of the evolution of the endogenous state variables that depend only on exogenous real disturbances, and $\Psi_{xx} \equiv \Upsilon_{22} - \Upsilon_{21} \left(V_{1}^{\prime} \right)^{-1} V_{2}^{\prime}$. Also, $E_{t} \widehat{\varphi}_{n,t+1} = E_{t} \left[\Psi_{\varphi s} \left(L^{-1} \right) \Phi_{s} s_{t} \right]$. It follows that

$$E_{t}\widehat{Z}_{n,t+1} = (V_{1}')^{-1} E_{t}\widehat{\varphi}_{n,t+1} - (V_{1}')^{-1} V_{2}'\widehat{X}_{n,t+1}$$

$$= E_{t}\Psi_{zs'} (L^{-1}) s_{t} - (V_{1}')^{-1} V_{2}'\Psi_{xx}\widehat{X}_{n,t}, \qquad (57)$$

where $E_t \Psi_{zs'} (L^{-1}) = (V_1')^{-1} \left[E_t \Psi_{\varphi s} (L^{-1}) \Phi_s - V_2' \left\{ \Upsilon_{21} (V_1')^{-1} E_t \left[\Psi_{\varphi s} (L^{-1}) \right] + \Sigma_2 \right\} \right]$. The complete solution to the system of equilibrium conditions is thus given by (46)-(47) in the main text.

Notice that the equilibrium condition for the equilibrium real interest rate \hat{r}_t^n , equation (53), can be written as

$$\widehat{r}_{n,t} = g_0' \widehat{Z}_{n,t} + g_1' E_t \widehat{Z}_{n,t+1} + g_2' s_t.$$

Substituting the solution for $\widehat{Z}_{n,t}$ and $E_t \widehat{Z}_{n,t+1}$, we obtain

$$\widehat{r}_{n,t} = \widehat{r}_{n,t}^s + \Psi_{rx}\widehat{X}_{n,t}.$$

where $\hat{r}_{n,t}^s \equiv \left[g'_0 E_t \Psi_{\varphi s} \left(L^{-1}\right) + g'_1 E_t \Psi_{zs'} \left(L^{-1}\right) + g'_2\right] s_t$ denotes the component of the natural rate that exclusively depends on exogenous real disturbances and $\Psi_{rx} \equiv -g'_0 \left(V'_1\right)^{-1} V'_2 - g'_1 \left(V'_1\right)^{-1} V'_2 \Psi_{xx}$.

D. Calibration

For the numerical calibration, we use the following functional form for households' utility

$$u(c_t, m_t; \xi_t) = \xi_{1t} \frac{\left(C^{\iota} m^{1-\iota}\right)^{1-\iota}}{1-\zeta}$$
$$v(h_t; \xi_t) = \psi \xi_{2t} h^{\varphi}$$



Shocks ξ_{1t} and ξ_{2t} , the two elements of vector ξ_t , are labelled "preference shock" and "labour supply shock", respectively, in Figure 5.

Under this assumption, we can show that the system allows for two steady state equilibria. In the $\Omega_t = 1$ case, the steady state is characterised, amongst other equations, by

$$A\left(\frac{h}{k}\right)^{\alpha} = q\chi\left[\frac{\frac{1}{\beta} - (1-\delta)}{1-\alpha}\right]$$
(58)

$$1 - \Phi(\overline{\omega})\mu + \frac{f(\overline{\omega})\phi(\overline{\omega})\mu}{f'(\overline{\omega})} = \frac{1+i}{q}$$
(59)

$$1 = \beta \gamma f(\overline{\omega}) \frac{q(1-\delta) + (1-\alpha) \frac{A(\frac{h}{k})^{\alpha}}{\chi}}{1+i - qg(\overline{\omega})} (1+i)$$
(60)

where $1 + i = \Pi/\beta$ and Π is the steady state gross inflation rate.

These equations can be used to show that $\overline{\omega}$ and q can be solved recursively. Using the first in the third, we obtain

$$1 = \gamma f\left(\overline{\omega}\right) \frac{q}{1 + i - qg\left(\overline{\omega}\right)} \left(1 + i\right)$$

which determines q given $\overline{\omega}$ as

$$\frac{1+i}{q} = g\left(\overline{\omega}\right) + f\left(\overline{\omega}\right)\gamma\left(1+i\right)$$

This expression for (1 + i)/q can be used in (59) to derive an equation which can be solved for the steady state value of $\overline{\omega}$

$$f(\overline{\omega})\left(\mu\frac{\phi(\overline{\omega})}{f'(\overline{\omega})} + 1 - \gamma(1+i)\right) = 0$$

where we also used $g(\overline{\omega}) = 1 - \mu \Phi(\overline{\omega}) - f(\overline{\omega})$. Note that this equation has two solutions. The first would be obtained in a model without financial frictions, where no output accrues to entrepreneurs and $f(\overline{\omega}) = 0$. The second solution, which we focus on, is such that

$$\frac{\phi\left(\overline{\omega}\right)}{1-\Phi\left(\overline{\omega}\right)} = \frac{1-\gamma\left(1+i\right)}{\mu}$$

Since the expression on the left hand side of this equation is the hazard rate, it is always positive. Hence, the second solution only exists if γ is sufficiently small, namely $\gamma < 1/(1+i)$.

References

- Barth, M.J. and V. Ramey. "The Cost Channel of Monetary Transmission," NBER Macroeconomic Annuals, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc., 2001, pp.199-240.
- [2] Bernanke, B.S., Gertler, M. and S. Gilchrist. "The Financial Accelerator in a Quantitative Business Cycle Framework." In: Taylor, John B. and Woodford, Michael, eds. Handbook of macroeconomics. Volume 1C. Handbooks in Economics, vol. 15. Amsterdam; New York and Oxford: Elsevier Science, North-Holland, 1999, pp. 1341-93.
- [3] Carlstrom, C.T., and T. Fuerst. "Agency Costs, Net Worth, ad Business Fluctuations: A Computable General Equilibrium Analysis." American Economic Review, 1997, 87, pp. 893-910.
- [4] Carlstrom, C.T., and T. Fuerst. "Agency Costs and Business Cycles." Economic Theory, 1998, 12, pp. 583-597.
- [5] Christiano, L., M. Eichenbaum and G. Evans. "Nominal rigidities and the dynamic effects of a shock to monetary policy." Journal of Political Economy, 2005, 113, pp. 1-45.
- [6] Christiano, L., R. Motto and M. Rostagno, "Shocks, structures or Policies? A Comparison of the EA and the US." Mimeo, European Central Bank, 2006.
- [7] De Fiore, F. and O. Tristani, "Costly state verification and the cyclicality of default," mimeo, European Central Bank, 2008.
- [8] Epstein, L. and S. Zin, "Substitution, risk aversion, and the temporal behavior of consumption and asset returns I: Theoretical framework," Econometrica, 1989, 57(4), pp. 937-969.
- [9] Gale, D. and M. Hellwig, "Incentive-Compatible Debt Contracts: The One-Period Problem." The Review of conomic Studies, 1985, 52(4), pp. 647-663.
- [10] Levin, A.T., Natalucci, F., and E. Zakrajsek. "The Magnitude and Cyclical Behavior of Financial Market Frictions." Staff WP 2004-70, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2004.
- [11] Lucas, R.E., Jr., and N. Stokey. "Money and Interest Rates in a Cash-in_advance Economy," Econometrica, 1987, 55, pp. 491-513.



- [12] Ravenna, F. and C. Walsh. "Optimal Monetary Policy with the Cost Channel." Journal of Monetary Economics, 53, 2006, pp.199-216.
- [13] Queijo, V. "How Important are Financial Frictions in the US and the Euro Area?". Seminar Paper n. 738, Institute for International Economic Studies, Stockholm, 2005.
- [14] Weil, P., "Non-expected utility in macroeconomics", Quarterly Journal of Economics, 1990, CV(1), pp. 29-42.
- [15] Wicksell, Knut. "Interest and Prices," 1898. English translation by R. F. Kahn, London: Macmillan, for the Royal Economic Society, 1936. Reprinted New York: Augustus M. Kelley, 1978.
- [16] Woodford, M. "Interest and Prices," Princeton University Press, Princeton and Oxford, 2003.





Figure 1: Impulse responses to a technology shock under the natural rate rule (constant Δ_m). Solid line: model with credit frictions; dashed line: model without credit frictions.



Figure 2: Impulse responses to a technology shock in the model with credit frictions. Solid line: constant Δ_m case; dashed line: $i_m = 0$ case.



Figure 3: Impulse responses to a monetary policy shock under flexible prices and a Taylor rule. Solid line: model with credit frictions; dashed line: model without credit frictions.



Figure 4: Impulse responses to a technology shock with non-expected utility preferences $(\zeta = 3)$. Solid line: model with credit frictions; dashed line: model without credit frictions.



Figure 5: Impulse responses of the natural rate to various shocks. Solid line: model with credit frictions; dashed line: model without credit frictions.



European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.europa.eu).

- 848 "Economic growth and budgetary components: a panel assessment for the EU" by A. Afonso and J. González Alegre, January 2008.
- 849 "Government size, composition, volatility and economic growth" by A. Afonso and D. Furceri, January 2008.
- 850 "Statistical tests and estimators of the rank of a matrix and their applications in econometric modelling" by G. Camba-Méndez and G. Kapetanios, January 2008.
- 851 "Investigating inflation persistence across monetary regimes" by L. Benati, January 2008.
- 852 "Determinants of economic growth: will data tell?" by A. Ciccone and M. Jarociński, January 2008.
- 853 "The cyclical behavior of equilibrium unemployment and vacancies revisited" by M. Hagedorn and I. Manovskii, January 2008.
- 854 "How do firms adjust their wage bill in Belgium? A decomposition along the intensive and extensive margins" by C. Fuss, January 2008.
- 855 "Assessing the factors behind oil price changes" by S. Dées, A. Gasteuil, R. K. Kaufmann and M. Mann, January 2008.
- 856 "Markups in the euro area and the US over the period 1981-2004: a comparison of 50 sectors" by R. Christopoulou and P. Vermeulen, January 2008.
- 857 "Housing and equity wealth effects of Italian households" by C. Grant and T. Peltonen, January 2008.
- 858 "International transmission and monetary policy cooperation" by G. Coenen, G. Lombardo, F. Smets and R. Straub, January 2008.
- 859 "Assessing the compensation for volatility risk implicit in interest rate derivatives" by F. Fornari, January 2008.
- 860 "Oil shocks and endogenous markups: results from an estimated euro area DSGE model" by M. Sánchez, January 2008.
- 861 "Income distribution determinants and public spending efficiency" by A. Afonso, L. Schuknecht and V. Tanzi, January 2008.
- 862 "Stock market volatility and learning" by K. Adam, A. Marcet and J. P. Nicolini, February 2008.
- 863 "Population ageing and public pension reforms in a small open economy" by C. Nickel, P. Rother and A. Theophilopoulou, February 2008.
- 864 "Macroeconomic rates of return of public and private investment: crowding-in and crowding-out effects" by A. Afonso and M. St. Aubyn, February 2008.
- 865 "Explaining the Great Moderation: it is not the shocks" by D. Giannone, M. Lenza and L. Reichlin, February 2008.
- 866 "VAR analysis and the Great Moderation" by L. Benati and P. Surico, February 2008.
- 867 "Do monetary indicators lead euro area inflation?" by B. Hofmann, February 2008.

- 868 "Purdah: on the rationale for central bank silence around policy meetings" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, February 2008.
- 869 "The reserve fulfilment path of euro area commercial banks: empirical testing using panel data" by N. Cassola, February 2008.
- 870 "Risk management in action: robust monetary policy rules under structured uncertainty" by P. Levine, P. McAdam, J. Pearlman and R. Pierse, February 2008.
- 871 "The impact of capital flows on domestic investment in transition economies" by E. Mileva, February 2008.
- 872 "Why do Europeans work part-time? A cross-country panel analysis" by H. Buddelmeyer, G. Mourre and M. Ward, February 2008.
- 873 "The Feldstein-Horioka fact" by D. Giannone and M. Lenza, February 2008.
- 874 "How arbitrage-free is the Nelson-Siegel model?" by L. Coroneo, K. Nyholm and R. Vidova-Koleva, February 2008.
- 875 "Global macro-financial shocks and expected default frequencies in the euro area" by O. Castrén, S. Dées and F. Zaher, February 2008.
- 876 "Are sectoral stock prices useful for predicting euro area GDP?" by M. Andersson and A. D'Agostino, February 2008.
- 877 "What are the effects of fiscal policy shocks? A VAR-based comparative analysis" by D. Caldara and C. Kamps, March 2008.
- 878 "Nominal and real interest rates during an optimal disinflation in New Keynesian models" by M. Hagedorn, March 2008.
- 879 "Government risk premiums in the bond market: EMU and Canada" by L. Schuknecht, J. von Hagen and G. Wolswijk, March 2008.
- 880 "On policy interactions among nations: when do cooperation and commitment matter?" by H. Kempf and L. von Thadden, March 2008.
- 881 "Imperfect predictability and mutual fund dynamics: how managers use predictors in changing systematic risk" by G. Amisano and R. Savona, March 2008.
- 882 "Forecasting world trade: direct versus "bottom-up" approaches" by M. Burgert and S. Dées, March 2008.
- 883 "Assessing the benefits of international portfolio diversification in bonds and stocks" by R. A. De Santis and L. Sarno, March 2008.
- 884 "A quantitative perspective on optimal monetary policy cooperation between the US and the euro area" by S. Adjemian, M. Darracq Pariès and F. Smets, March 2008.
- 885 "Impact of bank competition on the interest rate pass-through in the euro area" by M. van Leuvensteijn, C. Kok Sørensen, J. A. Bikker and A. A. R. J. M. van Rixtel, March 2008.
- 886 "International evidence on sticky consumption growth" by C. D. Carroll, J. Slacalek and M. Sommer, March 2008.
- 887 "Labor supply after transition: evidence from the Czech Republic" by A. Bičáková, J. Slacalek and M. Slavík, March 2008.



- 888 "House prices, money, credit and the macroeconomy" by C. Goodhart and B. Hofmann, April 2008.
- 889 "Credit and the natural rate of interest" by F. De Fiore and O. Tristani, April 2008.

